Chapter 2 Measles Virus Receptors

Y. Yanagi(🖂), M. Takeda, S. Ohno, and T. Hashiguchi

Contents

Introduction	14
Overview of MV Receptors	14
MV Receptors	16
CD46	16
SLAM	17
A Putative Receptor on Epithelial Cells	19
Other Receptors	20
Morbillivirus Receptors	21
Interaction of the MV H Protein with Receptors	21
MV Tropism and Pathogenesis in Relation to Receptors	24
Conclusions	25
References	26

Abstract Measles virus (MV) has two envelope glycoproteins, the hemagglutinin (H) and fusion protein, which are responsible for attachment and membrane fusion, respectively. Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM, also called CD150), a membrane glycoprotein expressed on immune cells, acts as the principal cellular receptor for MV, accounting for its lymphotropism and immunosuppressive nature. MV also infects polarized epithelial cells via an as yet unknown receptor molecule, thereby presumably facilitating transmission via aerosol droplets. Vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV use ubiquitously expressed CD46 as an alternate receptor through amino acid substitutions in the H protein. The crystal structure of the H protein indicates that the putative binding sites for SLAM, CD46, and the epithelial cell receptor are strategically located in different positions of the H protein. Other molecules have also been implicated in MV infection, although their relevance remains to be determined. The identification of MV receptors has advanced our understanding of MV tropism and pathogenesis.

Y. Yanagi

Department of Virology, Faculty of Medicine, Kyushu University, 812-8582, Fukuoka, Japan, e-mail: yyanagi@virology.med.kyushu-u.ac.jp

Introduction

Measles virus (MV), a member of the genus *Morbillivirus* in the family *Paramyxoviridae*, is an enveloped virus with a nonsegmented negative-sense RNA genome (Griffin 2007). It has two envelope glycoproteins, the hemagglutinin (H) and fusion (F) protein, which are involved in virus entry. MV enters a cell by pH-independent membrane fusion at the cell surface. Attachment of the H protein to a cell surface receptor is thought to induce the conformational change of the H protein, which in turn activates the fusion activity of the adjacent F protein, resulting in the fusion of the viral envelope with the host cell membrane (see the chapter by C. Navaratnarajah et al., this volume, for a more detailed discussion). Upon infection of susceptible cells, MV usually causes cell–cell fusion, producing syncytia.

Some molecules (called entry receptors) are, by themselves, capable of inducing the conformational changes of the H and F proteins required for membrane fusion and thus allowing MV entry, whereas others (called attachment receptors) only allow MV attachment to the cell without the ensuing membrane fusion and entry. While entry receptors are indispensable for entry, attachment receptors may also play a significant role in MV infection of certain cells by increasing the entry efficiency. The presence of these viral receptors determines whether a specific cell type is susceptible to MV. However, for successful MV infection, the cell also has to be permissive for viral replication at post-entry steps, which depends on other intracellular host factors.

MV was first isolated using the primary culture of human kidney cells (Enders and Peebles 1954). This first isolate is the progenitor of currently used live vaccines of the Edmonston lineage (see the chapter by S.L. Katz and D. Griffin and C.-H. Pan, this volume). In the past, Vero cells derived from the African green monkey kidney were widely used to isolate MV from measles patients. However, the isolation with Vero cells was inefficient and usually required several blind passages. Then, it was demonstrated that the Epstein-Barr (EB) virus-transformed marmoset B lymphoblastoid cell line B95-8 and its subline B95a are highly susceptible to MV, and that B95a cell-isolated MV strains retain pathogenicity to experimentally infected monkeys, unlike Vero cell-isolated strains (Kobune et al. 1990, 1996). Thus, B95a became a standard cell line used for MV isolation, together with other human B cell lines (Lecouturier et al. 1996; Schneider-Schaulies et al. 1995). These developments set the stage for the identification of MV receptors.

Overview of MV Receptors

Initial attempts to identify an MV receptor employed the commonly used laboratory-adapted MV strains of the Edmonston lineage. Naniche et al. (1992) generated a monoclonal antibody (mAb) that was capable of inhibiting the cell–cell fusion induced by the H and F proteins of the Hallé strain of MV. The mAb precipitated a cell-surface glycoprotein, which was subsequently identified as CD46 (also called membrane cofactor protein) (Naniche et al. 1993). Transfection of the human CD46 gene conferred susceptibility to MV on resistant rodent cell lines. Dörig et al. (1993) independently showed that human CD46 acts as a receptor for the Edmonston strain of MV. CD46 is expressed on all nucleated human cells (see the chapter by C. Kemper and J.P. Atkinson, this volume), thus explaining the ability of these laboratory-adapted MV strains to grow well in most human cell lines. In monkeys, CD46 is also present on red blood cells, consistent with the observation that these strains hemagglutinate monkey red blood cells.

Unlike vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains, MV strains isolated in B95a or human B cell lines were found to grow only in some lymphoid cell lines (Kobune et al. 1990; Schneider-Schaulies et al. 1995; Tatsuo et al. 2000a). Furthermore, the H protein from B cell line-isolated MV strains neither induced downregulation of CD46 nor caused cell-cell fusion (upon co-expression of the F protein) in CD46positive cell lines (Bartz et al. 1998; Lecouturier et al. 1996; Tanaka et al. 1998). These observations suggested that B cell line-isolated MV strains may utilize a molecule other than CD46 as a receptor (Bartz et al. 1998; Buckland and Wild 1997; Hsu et al. 1998; Lecouturier et al. 1996; Tanaka et al. 1998; Tatsuo et al. 2000a). Using an expression cloning approach, Tatsuo et al. (2000b) isolated a cDNA that could render a resistant cell line susceptible to B95a cell-isolated MV strains. The cDNA clone encoded signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM, also called CD150), a membrane glycoprotein expressed on immune cells (Cocks et al. 1995). Importantly, the Edmonston strain was found to use SLAM, in addition to CD46, as a receptor, indicating that SLAM acts as a receptor not only for B cell line-isolated MV strains but also vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains (Tatsuo et al. 2000b). Other groups have reached the same conclusions using different approaches (Erlenhoefer et al. 2001; Hsu et al. 2001).

To determine the receptor usage of different MV strains, Erlenhöfer et al. (2002) examined a number of MV strains with various isolation and passage histories, and showed that SLAM acts as a common receptor for all MV strains tested. In fact, no MV strain that does not use SLAM as a receptor has ever been reported, except artificially generated SLAM-blind recombinant viruses (Vongpunsawad et al. 2004). In general, B cell line-isolated strains utilize SLAM but not CD46 as a receptor, whereas vaccine and Vero cell-isolated strains use both SLAM and CD46 as receptors. In an attempt to determine differential receptor usage in vivo, viruses in throat swabs from measles patients were plaque-titrated on Vero cells with or without human SLAM expression. The results showed that like B cell line-isolated MV strains, the great majority of viruses in vivo use SLAM but not CD46 as a receptor (Ono et al. 2001a). Manchester et al. (2000) reported that clinical isolates obtained in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) utilize CD46 as a receptor. However, these strains replicated well in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells expressing human SLAM (Tatsuo et al. 2000b) but failed to productively infect CHO cells expressing human CD46 (Manchester et al. 2000). Taken together, the data indicate that SLAM acts as the principal cellular receptor for MV in vivo, and that the use of CD46 may be the result of MV adaptation in vitro.

In addition to these two well-characterized receptors, there may be other molecules that can act as an MV receptor. Pathological studies with humans and experimentally infected monkeys have shown that MV infects not only immune cells, but also epithelial, endothelial, and neuronal cells (Griffin 2007), all of which do not express SLAM. Now there is good evidence for the presence of an MV receptor on polarized epithelial cells (Tahara et al. 2008; Takeda et al. 2007). Furthermore, a ubiquitously expressed molecule(s) has been shown to allow MV infection, but not syncytium formation, in various types of cells from many species at low efficiencies (Hashimoto et al. 2002).

Figure 1 summarizes the receptor usage of MV in vivo and in vitro. In the following section, the properties of MV receptors will be discussed individually, along with their roles in MV infection.

MV Receptors

CD46

CD46 acts as a receptor for vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV. Its physiological function is to protect cells from attack by autologous complement, by regulating



Fig. 1 Receptor usage of MV in vivo and in vitro. SLAM acts as the principal receptor for MV in vivo, accounting for its lymphotropism and immunosuppressive nature. MV also infects polarized epithelial cells via an as yet unknown receptor molecule, releasing progeny infectious particles for transmission. Vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV acquire the ability to use CD46 as an alternate receptor through amino acid substitutions in the H protein during in vitro culture

complement activation. Furthermore, CD46 signaling has been implicated in the regulation of innate and acquired immune responses. The structure and functions of human CD46 are reviewed in the chapter by C. Kemper and J.P. Atkinson, this volume.

The ectodomain of the H protein of the Edmonston strain binds to the most membrane-distal short consensus repeat 1 and 2 of CD46 (Devaux et al. 1996; Iwata et al. 1995; Manchester et al. 1995). Analyses of the H proteins from many MV strains have revealed that the majority of strains using both SLAM and CD46 as receptors have tyrosine at position 481, whereas most B cell line-isolated strains have asparagine at that position. An N481Y substitution in the H protein was shown to allow B cell line-isolated strains to use CD46 as a receptor, without affecting their ability to use SLAM (Bartz et al. 1996; Erlenhöfer et al. 2002; Hsu et al. 1998; Lecouturier et al. 1996; Nielsen et al. 2001; Shibahara et al. 1994; Xie et al. 1999). Furthermore, when B cell line-isolated strains were adapted to growth in Vero cells (SLAM-negative), an N481Y substitution of the H protein was often observed after several passages (Nielsen et al. 2001; Schneider et al. 2002; Shibahara et al. 1994). Some Vero cell-adapted strains have a serine to glycine substitution at position 546 of the H protein, instead of the N481Y substitution (Li and Qi 2002; Rima et al. 1997; Shibahara et al. 1994; Woelk et al. 2001).

Is a single N481Y or S546G substitution in the H protein sufficient for MV to use CD46 as a receptor? By using recombinant viruses, it was shown that an N481Y or S546G substitution in the H protein alone cannot make a B cell lineisolated MV strain utilize CD46 as efficiently as the Edmonston strain (Seki et al. 2006). Several additional mutations are required for the H protein to interact efficiently with CD46 (Tahara et al. 2007a). This may explain why CD46-using viruses are seldom detected in vivo (Ono et al. 2001a). Furthermore, CD46-using viruses may have a growth disadvantage because they induce higher levels of type I interferons in PBMCs (Naniche et al. 2000). Thus, CD46-using viruses may emerge and grow in SLAM-negative cultured cells, but they may not expand in vivo because there is little selection pressure for them (the interferon system may even act against them). Although CD46 is the first MV receptor identified, its relevance in vivo remains to be proven.

SLAM

It is now well established that SLAM is the principal cellular receptor for MV. SLAM is a member of the SLAM family receptors that mediate important regulatory signals in immune cells (reviewed in Engel et al. 2003; Ma et al. 2007; Sidorenko and Clark 2003; Veillette 2006). SLAM is expressed on thymocytes, activated lymphocytes, mature dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and platelets in both humans and mice. SLAM is not expressed on monocytes (see below in this section for activated monocytes), natural killer cells, or granulocytes. SLAM has two extracellular immunoglobulin superfamily domains, V and C2, and a cytoplasmic tail with three tyrosine-based motifs that undergo phosphorylation and recruit SH2 domain-containing proteins such as SLAM-associated protein (SAP) and

Ewing's sarcoma-associated transcript 2 (EAT-2) (Cocks et al. 1995; Engel et al. 2003; Ma et al. 2007; Veillette 2006) (Fig. 2). SLAM functions by interacting with another SLAM molecule present on an adjacent cell (Mavaddat et al. 2000). Ligation of SLAM on CD4⁺ T cells leads to its binding to SAP, which in turn recruits and activates the Src-related protein tyrosine kinase FynT, resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation of SLAM. Combined with T cell receptor engagement, this triggers downstream effectors, leading to upregulation of the GATA-3 transcription factor and production of T helper 2 cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 (Engel et al. 2003; Ma et al. 2007; Veillette 2006) (Fig. 2). SLAM also regulates lipopolysaccharide-induced production of IL-12, tumor necrosis factor α , and nitric oxide by macrophages in mice (Wang et al. 2004). The distribution and functions of SLAM provide a good explanation for the lymphotropism and immunosuppressive nature of MV. Indeed, a recent study of MV infection in macaques identified SLAM⁺ lymphocytes and DCs as predominantly infected cell types (de Swart et al. 2007). Although SLAM is reported to be a marker for the



Fig. 2 SLAM structure and signal transduction. SLAM has extracellular V and C2 domains and a cytoplasmic tail with tyrosine (Y)-based motifs. Its ligand is another SLAM present on adjacent cells. Ligation of SLAM on CD4⁺ T cells leads to its binding to SAP, which in turn recruits and activates FynT, resulting in phosphorylation of SLAM. Combined with T cell receptor (TCR)-mediated signals, this triggers downstream effectors, leading to upregulation of GATA-3 and production of IL-4 and IL-13. The MV H protein binds to the V domain of SLAM to initiate cell entry. *MHC*, major histocompatibility complex

most primitive hematopoietic stem cells in mice (Kiel et al. 2005), it is currently unknown whether it is also expressed on human hematopoietic stem cells, thereby contributing to MV pathogenesis.

Mouse SLAM has functional and structural similarity to human SLAM (~60% identity at the amino acid level), but it cannot act as a receptor for MV, partly explaining why mice are not susceptible to MV (Ono et al. 2001b). The V domain of human SLAM is necessary and sufficient for MV receptor function (Ono et al. 2001b) (Fig. 2), and the amino acid residues at positions 60, 61, and 63 are critical for function (Ohno et al. 2003). Substitutions at these three positions to human-type residues make mouse SLAM act as an MV receptor, while introduction of changes at these positions compromises the receptor function of human SLAM. At present, it is unknown whether these residues directly bind to the H protein or, upon substitutions, modulate the conformation of SLAM, thereby affecting its interaction with the H protein. The answer to this question awaits the elucidation of the crystal structure of human SLAM complexed with the MV H protein.

Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2, 4, and 5 ligands induce SLAM expression on monocytes (Bieback et al. 2002; Farina et al. 2004; Minagawa et al. 2001). The MV H protein also induces SLAM expression on monocytes after binding to TLR 2 (Bieback et al. 2002). Thus, MV may induce its own entry receptor on potential target cells such as TLR2⁺ monocytes and DCs.

Vero cells stably expressing human SLAM (Vero/hSLAM) (Ono et al. 2001a) are now commonly used for MV isolation and propagation, replacing EB virusproducing B95a cells for safety reasons. However, in retrospect, the introduction of SLAM⁺ B95a cells to MV research (Kobune et al. 1990) was critical for the identification of SLAM as the principal receptor for MV. Without the use of B95a cells, its identification would have been delayed for many years.

A Putative Receptor on Epithelial Cells

In measles patients and experimentally infected monkeys, MV antigens and syncytia have been identified in the epithelia of various organs, including the skin, oral cavity, pharynx, trachea, esophagus, intestines, and urinary bladder, as well as in lymphoid tissues (for references, see the paper by Takeda et al. 2007). However, epithelial cells do not express SLAM, and B cell line-isolated MV strains, unlike vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains, do not infect most epithelial cell lines. Takeuchi et al. (2003) reported that a B95a cell-isolated strain caused syncytium formation in primary human respiratory epithelial cells, which was independent of SLAM and CD46. Recently, a human lung adenocarcinoma cell line NCI-H358 (Takeda et al. 2007) as well as four human polarized epithelial cell lines (Tahara et al. 2008) were shown to support SLAM- and CD46-independent MV entry, replication, and syncytium formation. Furthermore, analyses using anti-H protein mAbs and recombinant viruses possessing the mutated H proteins indicated that the receptor-binding site on the H protein required to infect these epithelial cell lines is different from the binding sites for SLAM and CD46 (see p. 22). Thus, wild-type viruses circulating in measles

patients appear to have an intrinsic ability to infect immune and polarized epithelial cells by using SLAM and an as yet unidentified molecule, respectively. (Also see the chapter by C. Navaratnarajah et al., this volume.)

Other Receptors

The C-type lectin DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) may play a role in MV infection of DCs (de Witte et al. 2006). Both attachment and infection of DCs with MV are blocked in the presence of DC-SIGN inhibitors. However, stable expression of DC-SIGN cannot confer susceptibility to MV on CHO cells. Thus, DC-SIGN appears to act as an attachment, but not entry, receptor for DCs.

On rare occasions, MV causes subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE), a persistent MV infection in the central nervous system (CNS), in which few free MV particles and syncytia are detected (see the chapters by V.A. Young and G. Rall and M.B. Oldstone, this volume). MV may spread trans-synaptically in neurons (Lawrence et al. 2000). It has been proposed, based on competitive inhibition studies and on experiments with knock-out mice, that neurokinin-1 (NK-1, substance P receptor) may promote MV entry into neurons by serving as a receptor for the MV F protein (Makhortova et al. 2007). However, the exact mechanism by which NK-1 contributes to MV spread in neurons remains to be defined.

Studies with recombinant MVs expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) demonstrated that SLAM- and CD46-independent MV entry occurs in a variety of cell lines (Hashimoto et al. 2002). This mode of entry produces solitary infected cells, but does not usually induce syncytium formation, and its efficiency is 100- to 1,000-fold lower than that of SLAM-dependent entry. Such a weak MVreceptor interaction that only allows inefficient entry may not lead to apparent cell-cell fusion (Hasegawa et al. 2007). This inefficient entry appears to be mediated by a ubiquitously expressed molecule(s) because it occurs in almost all cultured cells from various species (Hashimoto et al. 2002). It has been reported that B cell line-isolated MV strains effectively infect human umbilical vein and brain microvascular endothelial cells (Andres et al. 2003). Shingai et al. (2003) showed that pseudotype viruses bearing the H and F proteins of SSPE strains of MV utilize SLAM, but not CD46, as a receptor, and that they can infect various SLAMnegative cell lines independent of CD46. It remains to be determined whether MV infection of endothelial and neuronal cells in these instances is mediated by the ubiquitous inefficient receptor or a more efficient receptor(s) such as the putative epithelial cell receptor.

Even this ubiquitous inefficient receptor may allow significant MV growth after virus adaptation to cultured cells at post-entry step(s) of the viral life cycle. Recombinant chimeric viruses were generated, in which part of the genome of a B cell line-isolated MV strain was replaced with the corresponding genes from the Edmonston strain. While the parental virus could not grow in SLAM-negative Vero cells, the virus possessing the Edmonston H gene replicated efficiently using CD46

as a receptor. The recombinant virus possessing the Edmonston M or L gene also grew in Vero cells, although their entry efficiencies were as low as that of the parental virus (Tahara et al. 2005). This study provides an explanation for the previous observations that the recombinant viruses based on the Edmonston strain possessing the H protein of B cell line-isolated strains efficiently replicate in Vero cells (Johnston et al. 1999; Takeuchi et al. 2002). Other studies have also shown that B cell line-isolated MV strains can adapt to growth in Vero cells by substitutions in other proteins than the receptor-binding H protein (Bankamp et al. 2008; Kouomou and Wild 2002; Miyajima et al. 2004; Takeuchi et al. 2000). The changes found in these proteins may enhance MV growth at post-entry step(s) by improving viral transcription and replication, virus assembly (Tahara et al. 2007b), and/or evasion of antiviral host responses, thereby compensating the inefficient entry.

Morbillivirus Receptors

MV is a member of the *Morbillivirus* genus, which also includes canine distemper virus (CDV), rinderpest virus (RPV), peste-des-petits-ruminants virus, cetacean morbillivirus, and phocine distemper virus (Griffin 2007). Morbilliviruses are lymphotropic and cause lymphopenia and immunosuppression in respective host species. The common tropism and pathology of these viruses prompted Tatsuo et al. (2001) to examine the receptor usage of several strains of CDV and RPV. That study showed that all CDV and RPV strains examined use dog and cow SLAM as a receptor, respectively.

Dog and ferret macrophages (Appel and Jones 1967; Poste 1971), mitogenstimulated dog lymphocytes (Appel et al. 1992), and the marmoset B cell line B95a (Kai et al. 1993) have been successfully used to isolate virulent CDV. All these cells presumably express SLAM. Moreover, CDV was readily isolated in Vero cells stably expressing dog SLAM (Vero.DogSLAMtag) from the majority of dogs with distemper, suggesting that CDV uses dog SLAM as the principal receptor in vivo (Seki et al. 2003). This is supported by the finding that a recombinant CDV unable to recognize SLAM is attenuated in experimental infection of ferrets (von Messling et al. 2006). It is currently unknown how CDV infects the cells in the CNS, one of the commonly affected targets. It was shown that a wild-type RPV uses cow SLAM as a receptor, while the Plowright vaccine strain of RPV can use heparan sulphate as an alternative receptor, growing in many types of cells (Baron 2005). Thus, the use of SLAM as a receptor may be a common property of all morbilliviruses.

Interaction of the MV H protein with Receptors

Binding of CD46 and SLAM to the MV H protein has been studied using soluble molecules (Hashiguchi et al. 2007; Navaratnarajah et al. 2008; Santiago et al. 2002). SLAM binds to the MV Edmonston (vaccine strain) and IC-B (B95a cell-isolated

wild-type strain) H proteins with similar affinities (dissociation constant Kd of 0.43 vs 0.29 μ M). On the other hand, CD46 binds to the Edmonston H protein (Kd of 2.2 μ M) but not to the IC-B H protein (Hashiguchi et al. 2007).

To identify residues in the MV H protein involved in the interaction with SLAM and CD46, a series of mutants of the Edmonston or Hallé H protein were examined for their ability to induce SLAM- or CD46-dependent cell-cell fusion or to downregulate SLAM or CD46 from the cell surface (Massé et al. 2002, 2004; Navaratnarajah et al. 2008; Vongpunsawad et al. 2004). Changes of the relevant residues are expected to affect these functions of the H protein. The studies showed that some residues (I194, D505, D507, Y529, D530, T531, R533, H536, F552, Y553, and P554) interact with SLAM, and others (A428, F431, V451, Y452, L464, Y481, P486, I487, A527, S546, S548, and F549) interact with CD46. Tahara et al. (2007a) showed that substitutions at positions 390, 416, 446, 484, and 492, in addition to N481Y, are important to allow the IC-B strain to use CD46 as a receptor, suggesting that amino acid residues at those positions may also interact with CD46. Using site-directed mutagenesis, it was recently shown that aromatic residues such as F483, Y541, and Y543 in the H protein are critical for MV to infect and cause cell-cell fusion in polarized epithelial cell lines (Tahara et al. 2008). (Also see the chapter by C. Navaratnarajah et al., this volume.)

The crystal structure of the MV H protein was recently determined (Hashiguchi et al. 2007). The receptor-binding head domain forms a disulfide-linked homodimer and exhibits a six-bladed β -propeller fold ($\beta 1-\beta 6$). The residues implicated in the interaction with SLAM, CD46 or the putative epithelial cell receptor are indicated on the determined crystal structure of the MV H protein (Fig. 3A, viewed from the top of the monomer). SLAM-relevant residues are mapped to the interstrand loops of the β 5 sheet. The key residues for the interaction with CD46 span the $\beta 3-\beta 5$ sheets of the side face of the head domain and are mapped in different locations from the putative SLAM-binding site. The aromatic residues implicated in the interaction with the putative epithelial cell receptor are located between the putative SLAM- and CD46-binding sites. Notably, the residues implicated in the interaction with SLAM or the putative epithelial cell receptor are highly conserved among morbilliviruses, whereas those shown to be important for the interaction with CD46 are not. Thus, it is likely that many morbilliviruses, including MV, CDV and RPV, use their orthologs (SLAM and an unknown molecule) to infect immune and epithelial cells, respectively. Importantly, residues relevant for the interaction with SLAM and the putative epithelial cell receptor are located upward from the viral envelope, because of the tilted orientation of the molecules forming the H protein dimer (Fig. 3B, 3C). Thus, they may readily interact with SLAM on immune cells and the putative receptor on epithelial cells. On the other hand, CD46-relevant residues are accessible from the top of the H protein, but are located more to the side. Although most of these residues are expected to interact directly with the respective receptors because of their location on the surface of the H protein, elucidation of the crystal structures



Fig. 3 A–C Receptor-binding sites on the MV H protein. The receptor-binding head domain of the MV H protein comprises six β -sheets arranged cyclically around an axis as the blades of a propeller, and forms a homodimer (**A**) The head domain monomer of the H protein viewed from the top of the propeller-like structure (with the axis in the center) is shown by the ribbon model, together with residues implicated in the interaction with SLAM (*magenta*), CD46 (*cyan*), and a putative epithelial cell receptor (*orange*) (**B**) The H protein homodimer viewed from the side is shown by the ribbon model, with residues implicated in the interaction with receptors (**C**) The cartoon model of the H protein homodimer on the MV envelope. Residues implicated in the interaction with SLAM and a putative epithelial cell receptor are located upward from the viral envelope because of the tilted orientation of the molecules forming the homodimer

of the MV H protein complexed with individual receptors are required to determine whether they indeed bind to the receptors.

It has been suggested that SLAM and CD46 bind to overlapping sites in the H protein of the Edmonston strain, based on receptor binding competition and on blocking of SLAM and CD46 binding with the same anti-H protein mAbs (Santiago et al. 2002). However, given the assumed locations of the respective receptor-binding sites, it is more likely that the observed competition and blocking occurred because of a mechanism of steric hindrance. Similarly, many mAbs neutralizing SLAM-dependent MV infection appear to do so by steric hindrance, because their mapped epitopes are located in different positions from the putative SLAM-binding sites (Bouche et al. 2002; Hashiguchi et al. 2007; Santibanez et al. 2005).

MV Tropism and Pathogenesis in Relation to Receptors

Identification of MV receptors has led to better understanding of MV tropism and pathogenesis. Lymphotropism of MV is explained by infection of SLAM⁺ immune cells. Polarized epithelial cells appear to express a specific cellular receptor for MV. Currently, it is not known how endothelial and neuronal cells are infected by MV. They may have their own receptors or express the same receptor molecule as epithelial cells. Alternatively, they may be infected by MV via an inefficient receptor.

MV is transmitted via aerosol droplets. Although respiratory epithelial cells are generally suspected, initial target cells are not well defined. A classical study on CDV infection of dogs reported that the virus was detected only in bronchial lymph nodes and in tonsils on the day of infection, and that it appeared in mononuclear cells of the blood on the 2nd and 3rd days (Appel 1969). A ferret model of CDV infection also showed massive lymphocyte infection in PBMCs and lymphoid organs including the thymus, spleen, and lymph nodes, followed by infection of epithelial cells during the later stages of infection (von Messling et al. 2003, 2004). In intratracheal infection of macaques with GFP-expressing recombinant wild-type MV, de Swart et al. (2007) demonstrated that SLAM⁺ lymphocytes and DCs are predominantly infected cell types, with an occasional infection of epithelial cells at the later stage. Thus, it is likely that the primary targets of MV are SLAM⁺ immune cells in the respiratory tract, such as lymphocytes, DCs, and macrophages, rather than epithelial cells. It is also possible that DC-SIGN⁺ DCs capture MV (without being infected) in the respiratory epithelia and carry it to local lymph nodes, where the virus is transferred to activated (SLAM⁺) lymphocytes (de Swart et al. 2007; de Witte et al. 2006, 2008).

These interpretations are consistent with the observation that MV infects SLAM⁺ immune cells more efficiently than it does polarized epithelial cells (M. Takeda et al., unpublished observations). Most likely, at the later stage of infection when a large amount of MV is produced, infected SLAM⁺ immune cells may transfer the virus, albeit inefficiently, to epithelial cells, which in turn propagate the virus via the epithelial cell receptor. Since polarized epithelial cells with tight junctions cover the external epithelial surface, MV may not efficiently release progeny virus particles into the external surface through its ability to infect SLAM⁺ immune cells alone. Furthermore, studies showed that MV is selectively released into the apical (luminal) side of polarized epithelial cells (Tahara et al. 2008). Thus, the ability to infect epithelial cells may be necessary for MV to spread efficiently from person to person. This may also explain why MV is transmitted efficiently via aerosol droplets, whereas human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), which shares the tropism for immune cells with MV, is transmitted exclusively via sexual contact or blood.

Two clinical observations are of particular interest, which may be understood in terms of the use of SLAM as a receptor by MV. First, Burkitt's lymphoma and Hodgkin's disease have been reported to regress after MV infection (Bluming and Ziegler 1971; Taqi et al. 1981). EB virus may be responsible for these diseases, and

EB virus-transformed B lymphoid cell lines have been shown to express high levels of SLAM (Aversa et al. 1997; Tatsuo et al. 2000b). Thus, it is likely that these EB virus-related tumors expressed SLAM, and MV infected and killed these tumor cells. Second, HIV replication is reported to be suppressed during acute measles (Moss et al. 2002). Although the authors propose that the finding is related to the ability of MV to suppress lymphocyte proliferation (Garcia et al. 2005), it is also likely that suppression of HIV replication occurs because MV targets the very cells that harbor HIV provirus and allow HIV replication. HIV resides and replicates in memory and activated CD4⁺ T cells, which are likely to be SLAM⁺, and therefore to be infected and killed by MV. A similar mechanism may also explain in part why measles is more severe among people in developing countries, where chronic infection with various pathogens may increase the percentage of activated lymphocytes, which are SLAM⁺ and susceptible to MV infection.

Immunosuppression and lymphopenia are characteristic of measles. Infection and subsequent destruction of SLAM⁺ immune cells may account for these immunological abnormalities. Furthermore, MV infection may also affect SLAM signal transduction of immune cells by mimicking the natural ligand, thereby leading to the immune dysfunction (see the chapter by D. Gerlier and H. Valentin, this volume). MV-induced immunosuppression is discussed in more detail in the chapter by S. Schneider-Schaulies and J. Schneider-Schaulies, this volume.

Conclusions

Although the identification of SLAM as the principal cellular receptor for MV has provided insight into MV tropism and pathogenesis, many problems associated with measles still remain to be clarified. In this regard, animal models such as macaques (see the chapter by R. de Swart et al., this volume) and human SLAM-expressing mice (see the chapter by C.I. Sellin and B. Horvat et al., this volume) are expected to provide useful information. For example, SLAM-knock-in mice have been shown to reproduce MV tropism and immunosuppression seen in human patients (Ohno et al. 2007; S. Ohno et al., unpublished observations). Identification of the epithelial cell receptor is greatly desired. The mechanism by which MV spreads in the CNS during SSPE is almost unknown. Further studies on these subjects, coupled with crystal structures of the MV H protein complexed with respective receptors, will lead to better understanding of MV pathogenesis and to novel strategies of the prevention and therapy of measles.

Acknowledgements We thank all members of our laboratory for helpful discussion. We also thank Drs. D. Gerlier and C. Navaratnarajah for their comments on the manuscript. Our work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology and the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare of Japan, and from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

References

- Andres O, Obojes K, Kim KS, tel Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J (2003) CD46- and CD150independent endothelial cell infection with wild-type measles viruses. J Gen Virol 84:1189–1197
- Appel MJ (1969) Pathogenesis of canine distemper. Am J Vet Res 30:1167-1182
- Appel MJG, Jones OR (1967) Use of alveolar macrophages for cultivation of canine distemper virus. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 126:571–574
- Appel MJ, Pearce-Kelling S, Summers BA (1992) Dog lymphocyte cultures facilitate the isolation and growth of virulent canine distemper virus. J Vet Diagn Invest 4:258–263
- Aversa G, Chang C-C, Carballido JM, Cocks BG, de Vries JE (1997) Engagement of the signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM) on activated T cells results in IL-2-independent, cyclosporin A-sensitive T cell proliferation and IFN-gamma production. J Immunol 158:4036–4044
- Bankamp B, Hodge G, McChesney MB, Bellini WJ, Rota PA (2008) Genetic changes that affect the virulence of measles virus in a rhesus macaque model. Virology 373:39–50
- Baron MD (2005) Wild-type Rinderpest virus uses SLAM (CD150) as its receptor. J Gen Virol 86:1753–1757
- Bartz R, Brinckmann U, Dunster LM, Rima B, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J (1996) Mapping amino acids of the measles virus hemagglutinin responsible for receptor (CD46) downregulation. Virology 224:334–337
- Bartz R, Firsching R, Rima B, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J (1998) Differential receptor usage by measles virus strains. J Gen Virol 79:1015–1025
- Bieback K, Lien E, Klagge I, Avota E, Schneider-Schaulies J, Duprex W, Wagner H, Kirschning C, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies S (2002) Hemagglutinin protein of wild-type measles virus activates toll-like receptor 2 signaling. J Virol 76:8729–8736
- Bluming AZ, Ziegler JL (1971) Regression of Burkitt's lymphoma in association with measles infection. Lancet ii:105–106
- Bouche FB, Ertl OT, Muller CP (2002) Neutralizing B cell response in measles. Viral Immunol 15:451–471
- Buckland R, Wild TF (1997) Is CD46 the receptor for measles virus? Virus Res 48:1-9
- Cocks BG, Chang C-CJ, Carballido JM, Yssel H, de Vries JE, Aversa G (1995) A novel receptor involved in T-cell activation. Nature 376:260–263
- de Swart RL, Ludlow M, de Witte L, Yanagi Y, van Amerongen G, McQuaid S, Yuksel S, Geijtenbeek TB, Duprex WP, Osterhaus AD (2007) Predominant infection of CD150+ lymphocytes and dendritic cells during measles virus infection of macaques. PLoS Pathog 3: e178
- de Witte L, Abt M, Schneider-Schaulies S, van Kooyk Y, Geijtenbeek TB (2006) Measles virus targets DC-SIGN to enhance dendritic cell infection. J Virol 80:3477–3486
- de Witte L, de Vries RD, van der Vlist M, Yüksel S, Litjens M, de Swart RL, Geijtenbeek TBH (2008) DC-SIGN and CD150 have distinct roles in transmission of measles virus from dendritic cells to T-lymphocytes. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000049
- Devaux P, Loveland B, Christiansen D, Milland J, Gerlier D (1996) Interactions between the ectodomains of haemagglutinin and CD46 as a primary step in measles virus entry. J Gen Virol 77:1477–1481
- Dörig RE, Marcil A, Chopra A, Richardson CD (1993) The human CD46 molecule is a receptor for measles virus (Edmonston strain). Cell 75:295–305
- Enders JF, Peebles TC (1954) Propagation in tissue cultures of cytopathic agents from patients with measles. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 86:277–286
- Engel P, Eck MJ, Terhorst C (2003) The SAP and SLAM families in immune responses and Xlinked lymphoproliferative disease. Nat Rev Immunol 3:813–821
- Erlenhoefer C, Wurzer WJ, Loffler S, Schneider-Schaulies S, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J (2001) CD150 (SLAM) is a receptor for measles virus but is not involved in viral contactmediated proliferation inhibition. J Virol 75:4499–4505

- Erlenhöfer C, Duprex W, Rima B, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J (2002) Analysis of receptor (CD46, CD150) usage by measles virus. J Gen Virol 83:1431–1436
- Farina C, Theil D, Semlinger B, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E (2004) Distinct responses of monocytes to Toll-like receptor ligands and inflammatory cytokines. Int Immunol 16:799–809
- Garcia M, Yu XF, Griffin DE, Moss WJ (2005) In vitro suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by measles virus. J Virol 79:9197–9205
- Griffin DE (2007) Measles virus. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, DE Griffin, RA Lamb, MA Martin, B Roizman, SE Straus (eds) Fields virology, 5th edn, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 1551–1585
- Hasegawa K, Hu C, Nakamura T, Marks JD, Russell SJ, Peng KW (2007) Affinity thresholds for membrane fusion triggering by viral glycoproteins. J Virol 81:13149–13157
- Hashiguchi T, Kajikawa M, Maita N, Takeda M, Kuroki K, Sasaki K, Kohda D, Yanagi Y, Maenaka K (2007) Crystal structure of measles virus hemagglutinin provides insight into effective vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:19535–19540
- Hashimoto K, Ono N, Tatsuo H, Minagawa H, Takeda M, Takeuchi K, Yanagi Y (2002) SLAM (CD150)-independent measles virus entry as revealed by recombinant virus expressing green fluorescent protein. J Virol 76:6743–6749
- Hsu E, Iorio C, Sarangi F, Khine A, Richardson C (2001) CDw150 (SLAM) is a receptor for a lymphotropic strain of measles virus and may account for the immunosuppressive properties of this virus. Virology 279:9–21
- Hsu EC, Sarangi F, Iorio C, Sidhu MS, Udem SA, Dillehay DL, Xu W, Rota PA, Bellini WJ, Richardson CD (1998) A single amino acid change in the hemagglutinin protein of measles virus determines its ability to bind CD46 and reveals another receptor on marmoset B cells. J Virol 72:2905–2916
- Iwata K, Seya T, Yanagi Y, Pesando JM, Johnson PM, Okabe M, Ueda S, Ariga H, Nagasawa S (1995) Diversity of sites for measles virus binding and for inactivation of complement C3b and C4b on membrane cofactor protein CD46. J Biol Chem 270:15148–15152
- Johnston ICD, ter Meulen V, Schneider-Schaulies J, Schneider-Schaulies S (1999) A recombinant measles vaccine virus expressing wild-type glycoproteins: consequences for viral spread and cell tropism. J Virol 73:6903–6915
- Kai C, Ochikubo F, Okita M, Iinuma T, Mikami T, Kobune F, Yamanouchi K (1993) Use of B95a cells for isolation of canine distemper virus from clinical cases. J Vet Med Sci 55:1067–1070
- Kiel MJ, Yilmaz OH, Iwashita T, Yilmaz OH, Terhorst C, Morrison SJ (2005) SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121:1109–1121
- Kobune F, Sakata H, Sugiura A (1990) Marmoset lymphoblastoid cells as a sensitive host for isolation of measles virus. J Virol 64:700–705
- Kobune F, Takahashi H, Terao K, Ohkawa T, Ami Y, Suzaki Y, Nagata N, Sakata H, Yamanouchi K, Kai C (1996) Nonhuman primate models of measles. Lab Anim Sci 46:315–320
- Kouomou DW, Wild TF (2002) Adaptation of wild-type measles virus to tissue culture. J Virol 76:1505–1509
- Lawrence DM, Patterson CE, Gales TL, D'Orazio JL, Vaughn MM, Rall GF (2000) Measles virus spread between neurons requires cell contact but not CD46 expression, syncytium formation, or extracellular virus production. J Virol 74:1908–1918
- Lecouturier V, Fayolle J, Caballero M, Carabana J, Celma ML, Fernandez-Munoz R, Wild TF, Buckland R (1996) Identification of two amino acids in the hemagglutinin glycoprotein of measles virus (MV) that govern hemadsorption, HeLa cell fusion, and CD46 downregulation: phenotypic markers that differentiate vaccine and wild-type MV strains. J Virol 70:4200–4204
- Li L, Qi Y (2002) A novel amino acid position in hemagglutinin glycoprotein of measles virus is responsible for hemadsorption and CD46 binding. Arch Virol 147:775–786
- Ma CS, Nichols KE, Tangye SG (2007) Regulation of cellular and humoral immune responses by the SLAM and SAP families of molecules. Annu Rev Immunol 25:337–379
- Makhortova NR, Askovich P, Patterson CE, Gechman LA, Gerard NP, Rall GF (2007) Neurokinin-1 enables measles virus trans-synaptic spread in neurons. Virology 362:235–244

- Manchester M, Valsamakis A, Kaufman R, Liszewski MK, Alvarez J, Atkinson JK, Lublin DM, Oldstone MBA (1995) Measles virus and C3 binding sites are distinct on membrane cofactor protein (CD46). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:2303–2307
- Manchester M, Eto DS, Valsamakis A, Liton PB, Fernandez-Munoz R, Rota PA, Bellini WJ, Forthal DN, Oldstone MBA (2000) Clinical isolates of measles virus use CD46 as a cellular receptor. J Virol 74:3967–3974
- Massé N, Ainouze M, Neel B, Wild TF, Buckland R, Langedijk JP (2004) Measles virus (MV) hemagglutinin: evidence that attachment sites for MV receptors SLAM and CD46 overlap on the globular head. J Virol 78:9051–9063
- Massé N, Barrett T, Muller CP, Wild TF, Buckland R (2002) Identification of a second major site for CD46 binding in the hemagglutinin protein from a laboratory strain of measles virus (MV): potential consequences for wild-type MV infection. J Virol 76:13034–13038
- Mavaddat N, Mason DW, Atkinson PD, Evans EJ, Gilbert RJ, Stuart DI, Fennelly JA, Barclay AN, Davis SJ, Brown MH (2000) Signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (CDw150) is homophilic but self-associates with very low affinity. J Biol Chem 275:28100–28109
- Minagawa H, Tanaka K, Ono N, Tatsuo H, Yanagi Y (2001) Induction of the measles virus receptor (SLAM) on monocytes. J Gen Virol 82:2913–2917
- Miyajima N, Takeda M, Tashiro M, Hashimoto K, Yanagi Y, Nagata K, Takeuchi K (2004) Cell tropism of wild-type measles virus is affected by amino acid substitutions in the P, V and M proteins, or by a truncation in the C protein. J Gen Virol 85:3001–3006
- Moss WJ, Ryon JJ, Monze M, Cutts F, Quinn TC, Griffin DE (2002) Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus replication during acute measles. J Infect Dis 185:1035–1042
- Naniche D, Wild TF, Rabourdin-Combe C, Gerlier D (1992) A monoclonal antibody recognizes a human cell surface glycoprotein involved in measles virus binding. J Gen Virol 73:2617–2624
- Naniche D, Varior-Krishnan G, Cervoni F, Wild TF, Rossi B, Rabourdin-Combe C, Gerlier D (1993) Human membrane cofactor protein (CD46) acts as a cellular receptor for measles virus. J Virol 67:6025–6032
- Naniche D, Yeh A, Eto D, Manchester M, Friedman RM, Oldstone MB (2000) Evasion of host defenses by measles virus: wild-type measles virus infection interferes with induction of alpha/ beta interferon production. J Virol 74:7478–7484
- Navaratnarajah C, Vongpunsawad S, Oezguen N, Stehle T, Braun W, Hashiguchi T, Maenaka K, Yanagi Y, Cattaneo R (2008) Dynamic interaction of the measles virus hemagglutinin with its receptor SLAM. J Biol Chem 283:11763–11771
- Nielsen L, Blixenkrone-Moller M, Thylstrup M, Hansen NJ, Bolt G (2001) Adaptation of wildtype measles virus to CD46 receptor usage. Arch Virol 146:197–208
- Ohno S, Seki F, Ono N, Yanagi Y (2003) Histidine at position 61 and its adjacent amino acid residues are critical for the ability of SLAM (CD150) to act as a cellular receptor for measles virus. J Gen Virol 84:2381–2388
- Ohno S, Ono N, Seki F, Takeda M, Kura S, Tsuzuki T, Yanagi Y (2007) Measles virus infection of SLAM (CD150) knockin mice reproduces tropism and immunosuppression in human infection. J Virol 81:1650–1659
- Ono N, Tatsuo H, Hidaka Y, Aoki T, Minagawa H, Yanagi Y (2001a) Measles viruses on throat swabs from measles patients use signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (CDw150) but not CD46 as a cellular receptor. J Virol 75:4399–4401
- Ono N, Tatsuo H, Tanaka K, Minagawa H, Yanagi Y (2001b) V domain of human SLAM (CDw150) is essential for its function as a measles virus receptor. J Virol 75:1594–1600
- Poste G (1971) The growth and cytopathogenicity of virulent and attenuated strains of canine distemper virus in dog and ferret macrophages. J Comp Pathol 81:49–54
- Rima BK, Earle JAP, Baczko K, ter Meulen V, Liebert UG, Carstens C, Carabana J, Caballero M, Celma ML, Fernandez-Munoz R (1997) Sequence divergence of measles virus haemagglutinin during natural evolution and adaptation to cell culture. J Gen Virol 78:97–106

- Santiago C, Bjorling E, Stehle T, Casasnovas JM (2002) Distinct kinetics for binding of the CD46 and SLAM receptors to overlapping sites in the measles virus hemagglutinin protein. J Biol Chem 277:32294–32301
- Santibanez S, Niewiesk S, Heider A, Schneider-Schaulies J, Berbers GA, Zimmermann A, Halenius A, Wolbert A, Deitemeier I, Tischer A, Hengel H (2005) Probing neutralizing-antibody responses against emerging measles viruses (MVs): immune selection of MV by H protein-specific antibodies? J Gen Virol 86:365–374
- Schneider U, von Messling V, Devaux P, Cattaneo R (2002) Efficiency of measles virus entry and dissemination through different receptors. J Virol 76:7460–7467
- Schneider-Schaulies J, Schnorr J-J, Brinckmann U, Dunster L M, Baczko K, Liebert UG, Schneider-Schaulies S, ter Meulen V (1995) Receptor usage and differential downregulation of CD46 by measles virus wild-type and vaccine strains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:3943–3947
- Seki F, Ono N, Yamaguchi R, Yanagi Y (2003) Efficient isolation of wild strains of canine distemper virus in Vero cells expressing canine SLAM (CD150) and their adaptability to marmoset B95a cells. J Virol 77:9943–9950
- Seki F, Takeda M, Minagawa H, Yanagi Y (2006) The recombinant wild-type measles virus containing a single N481Y substitution in its hemagglutinin cannot use a receptor CD46 as efficiently as that having the hemagglutinin of the Edmonston laboratory strain. J Gen Virol 87:1643–1648
- Shibahara K, Hotta H, Katayama Y, Homma M (1994) Increased binding activity of measles virus to monkey red blood cells after long-term passage in Vero cell cultures. J Gen Virol 75:3511–3516
- Shingai M, Ayata M, Ishida H, Matsunaga I, Katayama Y, Seya T, Tatsuo H, Yanagi Y, Ogura H (2003) Receptor use by vesicular stomatitis virus pseudotypes with glycoproteins of defective variants of measles virus isolated from brains of patients with subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. J Gen Virol 84:2133–2143
- Sidorenko SP, Clark EA (2003) The dual-function CD150 receptor subfamily: the viral attraction. Nat Immunol 4:19–24
- Tahara M, Takeda M, Yanagi Y (2005) Contributions of matrix and large protein genes of the measles virus Edmonston strain to growth in cultured cells as revealed by recombinant viruses. J Virol 79:15218–15225
- Tahara M, Takeda M, Seki F, Hashiguchi T, Yanagi Y (2007a) Multiple amino acid substitutions in hemagglutinin are necessary for wild-type measles virus to acquire the ability to use receptor CD46 efficiently. J Virol 81:2564–2572
- Tahara M, Takeda M, Yanagi Y (2007b) Altered interaction of the matrix protein with the cytoplasmic tail of hemagglutinin modulates measles virus growth by affecting virus assembly and cell-cell fusion. J Virol 81:6827–6836
- Tahara M, Takeda M, Shirogane Y, Hashiguchi T, Ohno S, Yanagi Y (2008) Measles virus infects both polarized epithelial and immune cells using distinctive receptor-binding sites on its hemagglutinin. J Virol 82:4630–4637
- Takeda M, Tahara M, Hashiguchi T, Sato TA, Jinnouchi F, Ueki S, Ohno S, Yanagi Y (2007) A human lung carcinoma cell line supports efficient measles virus growth and syncytium formation via a SLAM- and CD46-independent mechanism. J Virol 81:12091–12096
- Takeuchi K, Miyajima N, Kobune F, Tashiro M (2000) Comparative nucleotide sequence analysis of the entire genomes of B95a cell-isolated and Vero cell-isolated measles viruses from the same patient. Virus Genes 20:253–257
- Takeuchi K, Takeda M, Miyajima N, Kobune F, Tanabayashi K, Tashiro M (2002) Recombinant wild-type and Edmonston strain measles viruses bearing heterologous H proteins: role of H protein in cell fusion and host cell specificity. J Virol 76:4891–4900
- Takeuchi K, Miyajima N, Nagata N, Takeda M, Tashiro M (2003) Wild-type measles virus induces large syncytium formation in primary human small airway epithelial cells by a SLAM (CD150)-independent mechanism. Virus Res 94:11–16

- Tanaka K, Xie M, Yanagi Y (1998) The hemagglutinin of recent measles virus isolates induces cell fusion in a marmoset cell line, but not in other CD46-positive human and monkey cell lines, when expressed together with the F protein. Arch Virol 143:213–225
- Taqi AM, Abdurrahman MB, Yakubu AM, Fleming AF (1981) Regression of Hodgkin's disease after measles. Lancet i:1112
- Tatsuo H, Okuma K, Tanaka K, Ono N, Minagawa H, Takade A, Matsuura Y, Yanagi Y (2000a) Virus entry is a major determinant of cell tropism of Edmonston and wild-type strains of measles virus as revealed by vesicular stomatitis virus pseudotypes bearing their envelope proteins. J Virol 74:4139–4145
- Tatsuo H, Ono N, Tanaka K, Yanagi Y (2000b) SLAM (CDw150) is a cellular receptor for measles virus. Nature 406:893–897
- Tatsuo H, Ono N, Yanagi Y (2001) Morbilliviruses use signaling lymphocyte activation molecules (CD150) as cellular receptors. J Virol 75:5842–5850
- Veillette A (2006) Immune regulation by SLAM family receptors and SAP-related adaptors. Nat Rev Immunol 6:56–66
- von Messling V, Springfeld C, Devaux P, Cattaneo R (2003) A ferret model of canine distemper virus virulence and immunosuppression. J Virol 77:12579–12591
- von Messling V, Milosevic D, Cattaneo R (2004) Tropism illuminated: lymphocyte-based pathways blazed by lethal morbillivirus through the host immune system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:14216–14221
- von Messling V, Svitek N, Cattaneo R (2006) Receptor (SLAM [CD150]) recognition and the V protein sustain swift lymphocyte-based invasion of mucosal tissue and lymphatic organs by a morbillivirus. J Virol 80:6084–6092
- Vongpunsawad S, Oezgun N, Braun W, Cattaneo R (2004) Selectively receptor-blind measles viruses: identification of residues necessary for SLAM- or CD46-induced fusion and their localization on a new hemagglutinin structural model. J Virol 78:302–313
- Wang N, Satoskar A, Faubion W, Howie D, Okamoto S, Feske S, Gullo C, Clarke K, Sosa MR, Sharpe AH, Terhorst C (2004) The cell surface receptor SLAM controls T cell and macrophage functions. J Exp Med 199:1255–1264
- Woelk CH, Jin L, Holmes EC, Brown DW (2001) Immune and artificial selection in the haemagglutinin (H) glycoprotein of measles virus. J Gen Virol 82:2463–2474
- Xie M-F, Tanaka K, Ono N, Minagawa H, Yanagi Y (1999) Amino acid substitutions at position 481 differently affect the ability of the measles virus hemagglutinin to induce cell fusion in monkey and marmoset cells co-expressing the fusion protein. Arch Virol 144:1689–1699